Submission

on the

Immediate future of the childcare sector in Australia

to the

Senate Education and Employment References Committee

PO Box 6100

Parliament House

Canberra ACT 2600

Phone: +61 2 6277 3521

Email: eec.sen@aph.gov.au

Website:

http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Education_and_Em

ployment

by

FamilyVoice Australia

4th Floor, 68 Grenfell St, Adelaide SA 5000

Telephone: 1300 365 965

Facsimile: 08 8223 5850

Email: office@fava.org.au

Website: www.fava.org.au

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction1	
2.	General principles	
	2.1	Family is the basic group of society1
	2.2	Family is the fundamental economic unit of society2
	2.3	Parenting benefits should be equal4
	2.4	Provide parenting benefits to parents6
	2.5	Provide parenting benefits as tax rebates6
	2.6	Provide welfare support to the needy
3.	Specific questions raised	
	3.1	The cost and availability for parents7
	3.2	Administrative burden8
	3.3	Impact of regulations9
	3.4	Strengthening the childcare sector
4.	Conclusion	
5.	References	

1. Introduction

On 12 December 2013, The Senate referred the inquiry into the immediate future of the childcare sector in Australia to the Education and Employment References Committee. The committee was directed to consider:

The immediate future of the childcare sector in Australia, with particular reference to:

- a. cost and availability for parents over the short term, including the effectiveness of the current government rebates;
- b. administrative burden, including the impact of the introduction of the National Quality Framework;
- c. the current regulatory environment and the impact on children, educators and service operators;
- d. how the childcare sector can be strengthened in the short term to boost Australia's productivity and workplace participation for parents; and
- e. any related matters.

FamilyVoice Australia has had a longstanding interest in policies that affect Australian families and is pleased to address issues related to the immediate future of the Australian childcare sector in this submission.

The closing date for submissions is 14 March 2014.

2. General principles

Before addressing the detailed terms of reference with their underlying unstated assumptions, it is important to consider some basic principles that apply to government funding of families and the care of children.

2.1 Family is the basic group of society

Families are the basic group of society. They are responsible for socialisation, economic activity, emotional nurturing and reproduction, all of which are essential for a functioning society. The Australian Bureau of Statistics provides a workable definition of family as "a group of two or more people that are related by blood, marriage, adoption, step or fostering who usually live together in the same household".

David Canning, Professor of Economics and International Health from the Harvard Institute for International Development, argues the importance of families in society. He states:

The family is one of the most robust institutions in existence. It survives when all other social relationships disintegrate. However, in addition to the overall fragility of a society without families, we feel a deeper unease.²

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) internationally recognise the importance of the family. The UDHR Article 16(3) states: "The family is the natural and fundamental group unit of society and is entitled to protection by society and the state.³ The ICCPR also states this principle in article 23.⁴

Two essential roles of the family unit are reproduction and effective child rearing. Senior Fellow of the Centre for Independent Studies, Barry Maley argues:

Apart from providing personal satisfaction for its members, the family performs the social function of maintaining or increasing the size and quality of the population. The family can be considered successful as a social institution only if:

- (i) families produce enough children to maintain or increase the population of society
- (ii) families effectively rear and socialise their children so that they fit into the culture.⁵

Maley reinforces the idea that families have an important role to play in both increasing the population and integrating children into productive society.

The role of socialisation in the family unit is important. The family is the first exposure children have to social settings and it is through the family that social skills and acceptable behaviours develop. This socialisation at home equips children to integrate and interact within society in an acceptable manner and to contribute within society. The importance of this process of socialisation should not be ignored. Without the role models of parents to learn these skills, children would find it near impossible to survive.

Families provide emotional support and nurture that are essential for healthy development. The first exposure to love and nurture comes from the family unit and from this process important emotional bonds are created. Deprivation of emotional support from the family unit in the early stages of life can lead to children who are immature, insecure and educationally adrift.⁶

American Philosopher Michael Novak recognises the importance of the emotional support and nurture in the family unit. He states:

The role of a father, a mother, and of children with respect to them, is the absolutely critical centre of social force. Even when poverty and disorientation strike, as over the generations they so often do, it is the family strength that defends most individuals against alienation, lassitude or despair.⁷

The survivability of the family unit regardless of circumstance makes it an essential foundation of society. The way in which a family operates within the time regardless of social context is one of the key qualities that make a family different from most other social groups. Add to this its ability to reproduce and ability to assist in the socialisation of children combine together to make it the fundamental group of society.

Recommendation 1:

Any provision of government support for raising children should recognise the family as the fundamental group unit of society that has primary responsibility for bearing, raising and socialising children to become productive members of society.

2.2 Family is the fundamental economic unit of society

The family is not only the basic social unit of society; it is also the fundamental economic unit. This is apparent across society and over time. Families are economic units; they share resources internally and expend resources as a single unit externally with society. This concept has been standardised by

Nobel Prize winner in Economics Gary Becker, who argued for the household acting as a single decision-maker.⁸

Within the family, there is the sharing of food, bills, utilities, shelter and resources. This means that the income earners provide for the household and sharing of the costs of living together occurs. When financial decisions are made within the family, the vast majority of the finance goes towards mutually beneficial items such as housing, food and transport – these three categories alone taking up 51% of the average expenditure of households. The income-pooling hypothesis describes this income sharing within a family. This has largely been a staple economic principle since the 1970s.

Even in recent times, when the income-pooling hypothesis has come under attack, a 2009 Australian study found "that rejection of income pooling may in fact be driven by mis-specification of the Engel curve rather than by failure to pool income." In other words, they have mis-specified their household expenditure versus household income graphs. This study was particularly looking at young adults' increasing tendencies to co-reside with their parents, and how their increasing independence affected economic models. However they also applied their "tests to income pooling between husbands and wives and find that pooling holds for most categories."

The Australian 2009 tax review summarised the main arguments for whether the family or the individual should be considered as the main tax unit:

Some people consider that using the family as the unit of taxation better reflects the ability to pay of individuals in a family. Others argue that the individual unit of taxation avoids specifying what is a suitable family structure for tax purposes and promotes the autonomy of individuals within a family, particularly secondary earners.¹¹

It is certainly true that the family as a whole is better able to pay than any one individual within one such family. Almost all dependent children - 17.6% of Australia's population 12 - and even some "non-dependent" children are not able to pay for any expenses, and the rest may only pay for a small portion. Single parent families only have one person who could individually handle expenses, and they comprise 15% of all families. Single income families where the wife does not work also only have one person who could individually handle expenses, and they comprise of 11% of couples with dependants. Double income families more often than not have the woman working part-time and therefore not being able to pay as much as the full-time worker. The main demographic left is retirees and single independent adults, for which there is also no good reason why these groups should not also be treated as "families" for tax purposes.

The second argument, that the "individual unit of taxation avoids specifying what is a suitable family structure", is completely inaccurate. The hidden specification of individual taxation is that families are a group of disconnected individuals that do not share their lives or resources. By taxing each individual within a family structure that has one main income stream, with the other family members relying on him or her, the individual who earns the main income receives taxation at the highest rates. In contrast, a family structure that has multiple income streams finds great favour in this scheme, being able to access the tax-free threshold and lower tax rates multiple times. Not only that, but through the Child Care Rebate, generally only accessed by multiple income families, the individual unit of taxation now dramatically favours this particular family structure.

The third argument, regarding the promotion of "autonomy of individuals within a family, particularly secondary earners", is an unwelcome intrusion into the internal affairs of families. The role of government is to serve the interests of families, not to pressure families to serve the interests of government. Families should be free to choose how they generate their pooled family income, without government pressure for "individual autonomy". Couples who view themselves not as disconnected "autonomous individuals" but as a "mutually dependent unions" may consider such government pressure both intrusive and offensive.

Families commonly pool their income and pay expenses as a single unit. Breaking up families into individual units for taxation purposes ignores the reality of families functioning as economic units. This not only breaks up families for tax purposes, but also breaks up families in their social context, placing unwelcome restrictions on how they arrange their affairs.

Recommendation 2:

The Australian taxation system should recognise each family as an economic unit and allow pooled family income to be shared among family members for income tax purposes.

2.3 Parenting benefits should be equal

The role of unpaid work in the home is an essential part of the overall economic activity of the family. However, some economists perceive unpaid work as having little or no economic value. They say that improving the economy is only achievable when both parents are paying taxes and are partaking in paid work. This view devalues the importance of unpaid work and ignores the reality that the family is the fundamental economic unit of society. Maley states:

There is no good reason why production in the market should be accorded higher value or importance than home production and child rearing. Productive labour in traded goods and services and the growth of human capital depend for their continuance upon the regeneration, socialisation and education of those who will be workers in the future.¹⁷

Maley recognises the value of unpaid family work. He questions why paid work holds a higher social value and points out the importance of the socialisation and education of children. Furthermore, he notes the importance of children for the future and the significant role they will play in contributing economically.

The use of GDP masks the important economic activity that occurs in the home. Maley states:

Working mothers and at-home mothers should be treated equally in public support for their dependent children. Measures of GDP ignore the importance of the family investing in children, regenerating the workforce and in unmeasured home production.¹⁸

As Maley notes, GDP is not the best measure of output as it ignores unpaid work, community work and other activities that contribute to society. GDP also fails to recognise the importance of socialisation and care of children within the home.

Patrick Byrne and Tempe Harvey from the Australian Family Association highlight the value of unpaid work in the family for roles such as childcare and community services. They note that the 2010 Senate report on Paid Parental Leave (PPL) omitted any reference to the value of unwaged family, child-care and community services. Byrne and Harvey state:

This omission implies an assumption in both reports that the unwaged work done principally by mothers (but also by some fathers) in the home has no economic value. Rather, the prevailing trend in economic analysis assumes that the economy is best stimulated when both parents are in paid work and paying taxes.¹⁹

Byrne and Harvey point out that when a parent chooses to undertake unpaid work they are allowing the family to provide their own social services, which include childcare. Furthermore, they argue that this unpaid work represents a substantial saving to the welfare bill of the state, since services such as childcare require state support. This is an important observation and reinforces Maley's view that

measuring economic output as GDP ignores important contributions made to society by parents (and others) who undertake unpaid community and household work.

The government should have a policy of neutrality for parenting benefits and recognise that families are best placed to make appropriate decisions for themselves. Current family benefits are not equitable, since different families with the same number of dependents are not treated equally.

Different families will make different parenting choices, for example:

- a husband working overtime so his wife can provide home-care for their children;
- a wife working part-time so her husband can help with their children; and
- a couple running a family company so they can work together.

Many families will make different choices at different stages of their lives, for example:

- during early married life, both partners may work;
- when caring for an infant, a husband may work fulltime, while his wife provides fulltime care for their infant(s) at home;
- when a couple has school-age children, the husband may work fulltime and his wife work parttime; and
- childless couples and "empty nesters" may have both husband and wife working full-time.

Governments should treat all families in similar situations in the same manner. For example, a family that chooses to provide home-based care for their children should be entitled to the same benefits as a family that chooses to use childcare while both parents have fulltime employment. Governments should remain neutral regarding childcare choices made by families.

Polling data indicates that the public is in favour of equal distribution of parenting payments, regardless of employment status. A 2009 survey asked if respondents agreed or disagreed with the federal government's new paid parental leave policy:

From next year, mothers in paid work will get will get around 50% more government funded Paid Parental Leave than the equivalent funding for stay home mums. ²¹

Most respondents (77%) answered that mums should get the same amount of government funding regardless of employment status.²²

Similarly, in a 2010 national phone poll of 1042 adults, the survey participants were asked:

Thinking now about Paid Parental Leave: In your opinion, should the government's Paid Parental Leave plan give equal funding to both mums in paid work and stay-home mums to afford bonding time with their babies?

To this question, 64% of respondents said that they believed the funding should be the same for all mums regardless of employment status.²³

The data from both of these polls reflect a common belief: the Australian public supports equality for all women regardless of employment status.

Recommendation 3:

Government-funded family benefits should embody the principle of government neutrality. Families should have the freedom to make their own decisions about employment and childcare – without government pressure. Equal benefits should be provided to families that make different decisions about balancing home and work responsibilities.

2.4 Provide parenting benefits to parents

Consumer choice is the ability for consumers "to choose among competing products and services". ²⁴ This has the advantage of allowing the consumer (in this case, a family) to make the best decision possible, free from government interference. This is a principle that should be applied to parenting choices: let the parents decide what is best for their family.

The 2009 report, *Australia's Future Tax System Review*, favours funding parents as opposed to child care providers. One section of the report addresses the question: "What is the role of child care assistance?" The conclusion is that funding parents directly provides "a number of advantages".²⁵

Firstly, it "allows parental needs to drive where child care centres are established and the type of care available". More broadly speaking, it allows other choices to be made as needed, such as a choice to contract a special carer for disabled kids, to employ a qualified nanny, or to care for their own children at home.

Secondly, "the government does not have to determine where child care centres should be located or which ones should receive additional funding." Furthermore, the government would not have to spend resources at all on the area of childcare or other related services if they were not the primary funding agent of these services. Regular market forces can already provide satisfactory outcomes for whatever parents need.

Thirdly, "providing funding directly to parents allows for better targeting of assistance to particular groups of parents and children based on their individual characteristics."

Providing parenting benefits to parents also reinforces the important concept of government neutrality. Families receiving benefits can make decisions for themselves in the best interests of their children. Institutional childcare subsidies undermine consumer choice by favouring one option over others. Parents should be given the opportunity to choose how parenting benefits are spent.

Recommendation 4:

Parenting benefits should be provided directly to parents, so they can freely choose their own childcare options in the best interests of their children in their particular situation. The market can then respond to parental demand with childcare options that best meet the needs of parents.

2.5 Provide parenting benefits as tax rebates

High taxation and excessive welfare services lead to market inefficiency. Therefore reducing tax levels and welfare services is one key way to increase efficiency. The large administrative costs of collecting taxes and delivering welfare services can be substantially reduced by providing family benefits through income tax rebates. The more money that stays with the family, the less that is lost through "tax-welfare churn"—the practice of taxing people then returning those taxes in the form of welfare payments.²⁶

The significance of tax-welfare churn should not be underestimated. Andrew Baker, Policy Analyst at the Centre for Independent Studies (CIS), observes:

Of the \$316 billion spending on the welfare state, approximately half, or \$158 billion, can be attributed to tax-welfare churn.²⁷

The cost of administering \$158 billion of tax-welfare churn must be economically significant. Reducing this wasteful churn should achieve billions of dollars in savings. One way of reducing tax-welfare church would be to replace all government expenditure on childcare with rebates to taxpayers.

Currently in Australia, a wide range of parenting and child related payments are available to parents. These benefits include the Family Tax Benefit (FTB), Paid Parental Leave, Schoolkids Bonus, Child Care Benefit and the Child Care Rebate. CIS Senior Fellows Peter Saunders and Barry Maley recommended reforming this system by raising income tax thresholds and introducing a non-means tested Child Tax Credit to replace the current means-tested family payments. This would amount to several thousand dollars per child per year. The aim is to make it easier for families to use their own money to raise their children. Helping families to be self-supporting is a worthy goal.

Recommendation 5:

Reduce the wastage associated with tax-welfare churn and help families to be self-supporting by replacing the existing system of childcare subsidies and benefits with a single income tax rebate for all families raising children.

2.6 Provide welfare support to the needy

A clear distinction should be made between self-supporting families with a taxable income earned by one or more members and those families with little or no income.

Self-supporting families can be helped with the cost of raising children, through a significant tax rebate during the years when the children are dependent on their parents. This should be considered an entitlement and be administered through the taxation system.

A tax rebate is of no value to families with little or no income, since they pay no income tax. Such families should be assisted through the welfare system, applying the principle of mutual obligation:

[I]t is fair and reasonable to expect unemployed people receiving income support to do their best to find work, undertake activities that will improve their skills and increase their employment prospects and, in some circumstances, contribute something to their community in return for receiving income support.³¹

Recommendation 6:

Families with little or no income should be assisted through the welfare system, applying the principle of mutual obligation.

3. Specific questions raised

3.1 The cost and availability for parents

The costs of childcare options available to parents are grossly distorted by government regulation and subsidies. Institutional care, such as in childcare centres, is heavily subsidised in various ways

whereas home care, including care by a parent, nanny or grandparent, is ignored or financially penalised.

Parents are therefore forced to make decisions about childcare based on costs distorted by government interference. Governments should adhere to the principle of neutrality (see section 2.3 above "Parenting benefits should be equal") and support all childcare options, both institutional and homebased, on an equal basis. This would increase the availability of different options for parents, so they can make choices that best suit their circumstances.

The best way for governments to uphold the principle of neutrality is to provide benefits directly to parents, not to service providers, and allow parents to choose the childcare options best suited to them – see section 2.4 above "Provide parenting benefits to parents".

Providing family benefits directly to parents has several advantages:

- Parents then have consumer choice and can choose the childcare solution most appropriate to their needs.
- Parents can choose different childcare solutions at different times and for children with different needs.
- Childcare providers can respond to the needs of parents, rather than government-planned services that may not suit parents.

Recommendation 7:

Benefits for childcare and early childhood education should be provided directly to parents, so they can freely choose the best options for their children in their particular situation. The market can then respond efficiently to parental demand.

The effectiveness of the current government rebates is compromised tax-welfare churn.

Inefficiency arises from providing much of the funding to service providers, rather than consumers. Service providers may respond more to government-imposed rigidities, rather than the needs of parents. Funding parents directly would foster greater efficiency as the market allows service providers to respond to the needs of parents.

Waste arises from tax-welfare churn, as outlined in section 2.5 above "Provide parenting benefits as tax rebates". Providing benefits as tax rebates for tax-paying families would eliminate the administrative overhead of managing government-funded childcare and early childhood education services.

Recommendation 8:

Rationalise and streamline the funding of childcare and early childhood education services (a) by providing benefits directly to parents, not service providers and (b) by providing benefits as tax rebates, not cash payments, thereby reducing tax-welfare churn.

3.2 Administrative burden

The National Quality Framework (NQF) introduced in 2012 was designed to provide a quality standard of education across long day care, family day care, pre-school/kindergarten, and care services.³² The National Quality Standard (NQS) is a key aspect of the NQF and sets a national benchmark for early childhood education and care and outside-school-hours care services in Australia.

The NQF can actually be counter-productive and lower the quality of care provided to children. This is illustrated by the following actual case. Before the implementation of the NQF a very efficient day care service was run by a woman who had time to spend with the children, reading to them and providing high levels of personalised care. After the NQF and subsequent NQS were introduced, the added workload imposed an administrative burden that prevented her from spending the same amount of time with the children due, to the increased levels of paperwork. Eventually, this childcare provider decided to retire, citing the administrative burden as the key reason. The unnecessary loss of such a talented childcare worker is lamentable.³³

It is beneficial for children to receive the highest quality care possible in childcare. However, this service could be better managed through greater self-regulation. Less government regulation and more responsibility given to childcare providers should be key aims. This follows the principle of consumer choice as mentioned in section 2.4, where the market will match the quality desired by the parents. It should be noted that the highest quality care for children will still be generally found within the home with children's parents.³⁴

Recommendation 9:

Administrative burden is forcing quality educators out of childcare centres. More control should be given to childcare providers so they can tailor their services to meet the needs of customers, without the rigidities of externally imposed quality standards.

3.3 Impact of regulations

The unequal regulations that favour multi-income families and those who use certain types of childcare services are an unwelcome intrusion into the internal affairs of families, as argued in section 2.2 "Family is the fundamental economic unit of society". The role of government is to serve the interests of families, not to pressure families to serve the interests of government.

The employment status of a mother during the first five years of the child's life has an impact on the child's long-term educational and economic outcomes. Evidence suggests that children whose mothers worked for longer periods in full-time work tended to have lower educational achievement, higher risk of unemployment.³⁵ Encouraging home-based mother care is therefore an investment in the child's well-being and future generations of Australians.

A study of more than 3,700 mothers by Working Mother Research Institute revealed that mothers are looking for flexible (57% rated this one of three most important benefits), yet predictable (51%) work hours, far above access to child-care benefits (17%). Sixty four percent of employed mums (and 86% of home-based mothers) said it was desirable to be home-based before children are school aged, preferring to work after children are in school.³⁶

These differences in family preferences underline the need for governments to be neutral towards family choices.

Government neutrality should also apply to the educative aspects of childcare. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights states:

Parents have a prior right to choose the kind of education that shall be given to their children.³⁷

With a national framework that governs education standards, and a potential for increases to subsidies to childcare services, the Australian Government is trampling on the rights of parents to have real choice in the education of their children in their early preschool years.

Recommendation 10:

Since governments should serve the people and not the reverse, any regulation of the childcare sector should embody the principle of government neutrality and treat homebased and waged parents equally.

3.4 Strengthening the childcare sector

Item (d) of the terms of reference asks: "How the childcare sector can be strengthened in the short term to boost Australia's productivity."

If Australia's productivity continues to focus only on GDP, it will fail to recognise the importance of unpaid work such as care of children within the home and volunteer work. As argued in 2.3 "Parenting benefits should be equal", GDP ignores these vital contributions to our society. A better productivity measure that includes unpaid work should be used to give a more complete picture of the financial health of the nation.

When productivity includes unpaid work, the childcare sector can be immediately strengthened by providing equal benefits to all parents (section 2.3), and providing benefits direct to parents (section 2.4).

Item (d) of the terms of reference also implies the need to boost "workplace participation for parents".

As previously discussed in section 3.3, home-based childcare is in itself beneficial work. Pressuring a home-based mother to join the workforce, while someone else cares for her pre-school children, may be of no overall benefit to the nation.

Subsidies to childcare providers bypass parents and undermine their ability to make choices tailored to their individual family circumstances. These provider subsidies should be abolished and replaced by benefits to parents, thereby enabling parents to make their own choices.

The most efficient mechanism for helping families in diverse circumstances care for their children would be to make benefits in the form of income tax rebates, as discussed in section 2.5 above "Provide parenting benefits as tax rebates". Tax rebates have several advantages:

- They encourage family self-sufficiency.
- They reduce the wastage associated tax-welfare churn.
- They maximise flexibility, giving parents complete control over how best to provide for the care of their children.

Recommendation 11:

The choices available to Australian families, regarding how they care for their children in a manner most suitable to their circumstances, should be maximally enhanced by providing benefits directly to the parents.

Childcare benefits should be provided to parents as income tax rebates, since this mechanism enhances flexibility, encourages family self-sufficiency and reduces government waste due to tax-welfare churn.

4. Conclusion

The family is the fundamental social unit of society. Families provide the love, nurture, care, support, provision and upbringing that children need. Children learn acceptable behaviours in families so they can grow into responsible participants in society.

The family is also an economic unit, where resources, shelter, food and skills are shared for mutual benefit.

Governments should remain neutral regarding the decisions families make about childcare and early childhood education for their children. An unfair taxation system should not pressure families to place their child into institutional childcare. Instead, families should be able to make their own choices, as they are best placed to know their own circumstances at any given time.

Families should be given maximum flexibility to determine their preferred childcare arrangements by providing family benefits directly to parents and ending subsidies to childcare providers. Economic efficiency should also be maximised by providing family benefits as income tax rebates, thereby reducing the waste accompanying tax-welfare churn.

The family support systems implemented by France, Finland and Germany recognise the family as a vitally important economic unit. They allow families the choice of having one parent stay at home to raise their child. They recognise the economic value of the work done by mothers or fathers in the home and the substantial contribution this makes to society. Australia should seriously consider adopting a similar model.

5. References

Australian Bureau of Statistics, *Family Characteristics Survey: Summary of Results*, 2009-2010, Cat. No. 4442.0 (27 May 2011):

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/4442.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=4442.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view=

- David Canning, et al., "The Family and Economic Development", *Harvard Institute for International Development* (1999): http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.194.8310&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed 5 December 2013).
- ³ Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations, 1948): http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/
- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (United Nations, 1966): http://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx
- Barry Maley, "Helping Failing Families: Some Priorities for Reform", *Policy* (Winter 1990), 4.
- M.L. Kellmer Pringle, "Deprivation and Education", in Edward Pruden (ed.) *Education: Annual Review of the Residential Child Care Association*, 19 (1972), 16-24: http://www.cyc-net.org/cyc-online/cycol-0402-pringle.html
- Michael Novak, "The Family Out of Favor", *Harper's Magazine* (1 April 1976).
- ⁸ Gary S. Becker, *A Treatise on the Family* (Harvard University Press, 1991).
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. *Household Expenditure Survey, Australia: Summary of Results, 2009-10,* (6 September 2011): <a href="http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0Main%20Features22009-10?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/6530.0&issue=2009-10&num=&view="https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/abs@.n
- Robert V. Breunig and Rebecca J. McKibbin, "Income Pooling between Australian Young Adults and Their Parents", *Labour*, 26/2 (June 2012), 235–265; see also "Income pooling between Australian young adults and their parents: an improved parametric model and informal semi-parametric tests", (3 July 2009): https://crawford.anu.edu.au/pdf/staff/robert_breunig/Paper.pdf
- "Architecture of Australia's Tax and Transfer System", *Australia's Future Tax System: Final Report* (Australian Government, 2 May 2010): http://www.taxreview.treasury.gov.au/content/Paper.aspx?doc=html/publications/papers/report/section/3-02.htm
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. *Population by Age and Sex, Australian States and Territories, Jun 2010*, (21 December 2010): http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/cat/3201.0
- Australian Bureau of Statistics, "One Parent Families". *Labour Force, Australia: Labour Force Status and Other Characteristics of Families, Jun 2012*, Cat. No. 6224.0.55.001 (5 January 2013): http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Products/4233AA5C03E81053CA257B5D0013C807?opendocument
- 14 Ibid.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics, "Couple Families". *Labour Force, Australia: Labour Force Status and Other Characteristics of Families, Jun 2012*, Cat. No. 6224.0.55.001 (5 January 2013): http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Products/6224.0.55.001~Jun%202012~Chapter~Couple%20Families
- Tempe Harvey and Patrick Byrne, "The Need for an Overhaul of the Family Benefits System." *AFA Journal*, 31/2 (1 July 2010), 52.
- Barry Maley, "Families, Fertility and Maternity Leave", *Issue Analysis*, 24 (16 September 2002), 11.

- 18 Ibid.
- Harvey and Byrne, 52.
- 20 Ibid
- Kids First Parent Association, Brisbane phone poll (Nov-Dec 2009), private communication.
- ²² Ibid.
- D. Briggs, Galaxy Research Phone Poll (2010), private communication.
- "Consumer choice", *Collins English Dictionary*: http://www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/consumer-choice
- "What is the role of child care assistance?", in *Australia's Future Tax System: Final Report, Part 2, Detailed Analysis Volume 2*, Chpater F: The Transfer System, F4-1 (Commonwealth of Australia, 2 May 2010):

http://taxreview.treasury.gov.au/content/FinalReport.aspx?doc=html/publications/Papers/Final Report Part 2/c hapter f4-1.htm

- Andrew Baker, *TARGET30—Tax-Welfare Churn and the Australian Welfare State*, (Centre for Independent Studies, 1 March 2013): http://www.cis.org.au/images/stories/target30/t30.02.pdf
- ²⁷ Ibid.
- Peter Saunders and Barry Maley, *Tax Reform to Make Work Pay*, Perspectives on Tax Reform (3), (Centre for Independent Studies, March 2013), 28: http://www.cis.org.au/images/stories/target30/t30.02.pdf
- ²⁹ Ibid.
- 30 Ibid.
- "Mutual obligation: definition", *Guide to Social Security Law* (Australian Government, 2 January 2014): http://guidesacts.fahcsia.gov.au/guides_acts/ssg/ssguide-1/ssguide-1.1/ssguide-1.1.m/ssguide-1.1.m.160.html
- "Introducing the National Quality Framework", *National Quality Framework* [online] (Australian Children's Education & Care Quality Authority, 2012). http://acecqa.gov.au/national-quality-framework/introducing-the-national-quality-framework accessed 7 Mar 2014.
- Private communication.
- Steve Doughty, "Working mums damage their child's prospects", *Daily Mail* (UK, 15 March 2001).
- John Ermisch and Marco Francesconi, "The effect of parents' employment on children's educational attainment", *Working Papers of the Institute for Social and Economic Research*, paper 2002-21. (Colchester: University of Essex, October 2002): https://www.iser.essex.ac.uk/files/iser_working_papers/2002-21.pdf
- Working Mother Research Institute, *What Moms Choose: The Working Mother Report* (Ernst & Young, 2011), 13–17: www.wmmsurveys.com/WhatMomsChoose.pdf
- Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations, 1948): http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/